#### TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

School of Business and Governance

### Jasmin Partanen

# DIGITALLY WORKING YOUNG ADULTS' MOTIVATION TO BE SELF-EMPLOYED

Bachelor's thesis

Programme TVTB, specialisation Management & Entrepreneurship

Supervisor: Merle Küttim, PhD

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints, and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading.

The document length is 12992 words from the introduction to the end of the conclusion.

Jasmin Partanen 11.05.2023

Student code: 202073TVTB

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	5
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	9
1.1. Theories of motivation	9
1.2. Defining entrepreneurship and self-employment and explaining their economic significance	11
1.3. Youth career and self-employment motivations	13
1.4. The role of social media and internet in influencing self-employment	15
1.5. The role of social and economic environment in influencing self-employment	17
1.6. The risks related to self-employment	18
2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	21
2.1. Research design and sample	21
2.2. Data collection and analysis methods	22
3. RESULTS & FINDINGS	24
3.1. Data analysis and results	24 26 27
3.2. Discussion and recommendations	35
CONCLUSION	40
LIST OF REFERENCES	44
APPENDICES	51
Appendix 1. Interview questions	51
Appendix 2. Interviews	53
Appendix 3. Non-exclusive licence	54

#### **ABSTRACT**

The world has undergone significant changes in recent years, including technological advancements, political upheavals, and a global pandemic, prompting people to rethink their career paths and aspirations.

This bachelor thesis aims to investigate the motivation behind young adults to be self-employed digitally in the current business environment. The author conducted an extensive review of existing theories and studies, focusing on intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, the influence of the socio-economic environment, the impact of social media and the internet, as well as the associated risks and challenges.

The research methodology utilized in this study involved conducting interviews with six self-employed individuals who work entirely digitally. Through these interviews, the study found that self-employment was not merely a fleeting ambition but a fundamental aspect of these individuals' identity and sense of self. They possessed a particular mindset that was well-suited for the challenges and opportunities of self-employment, characterized by a willingness to take risks, a strong sense of determination and perseverance, and a willingness to learn from mistakes. The study emphasized the importance of autonomy, as outlined in motivation theory. It also highlighted the challenges and risks associated with self-employment, providing a realistic overview for young adults who are considering taking this path. This study contributes to a deeper understanding of young adults' motivation to become self-employed and provides insights for anyone considering this path in the current business landscape. These findings can inform strategies for supporting and encouraging entrepreneurship and self-employment.

Keywords: Career motivation, human resource management, job satisfaction, self-employment, digital self-employment

#### INTRODUCTION

Entrepreneurship and self-employment drive economic growth and job creation globally. The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM 2019) highlights the millions of businesses launched annually, showcasing the power of entrepreneurship in fostering innovation However, starting and running a successful business is not an easy task, requiring technical skills along with motivation, persistence, and resilience. Young adults embarking on entrepreneurial careers encounter diverse challenges and opportunities that shape their motivation for self-employment.

Amid increasing job market competition, many young adults are opting to start their own businesses rather than pursue traditional employment. It isn't anomaly anymore that becoming non-dependent on the place you are working from is becoming more intriguing for people An International Workplace Group report (2018) found that 85% of respondents believed flexible working had become more widely accepted in their country, while 50% of the workforce spent at least half of their week working outside the main office. Furthermore, a survey by Buffer (2020) revealed that 98% of respondents desired remote work opportunities throughout their careers. These findings indicate that digital work is no longer an anomaly but a popular and growing trend.

Several studies have highlighted the importance of motivation as a key determinant of entrepreneurial success and growth (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000; Baron, 2008; Baum & Locke, 2004). Motivation refers to the internal and external factors that drive individuals to take action towards achieving their goals, such as personal fulfillment, financial gain, social impact, or autonomy. In the context of entrepreneurship, motivation can stem from various sources, such as previous experiences, role models, social networks, educational background, and personal values (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000).

Career motivations should be studied for several reasons. First, it can inform policy and education initiatives that aim to foster self-employment among young people, by identifying the drivers and barriers of motivation, and designing targeted interventions that address them (Foss & Klein, 2012). Second, it can provide insights into the career trajectories and outcomes, by examining how

young adults' motivation affects their goals, strategies, and performance over time (Baum & Bird, 2010). Third, it can enrich the theoretical frameworks and empirical evidence on entrepreneurship and self-employment, by testing and refining existing models of motivation and its effects on entrepreneurial behavior (Baron et al., 2016).

The **research problem** of this thesis is shortage of knowledge about the factors that influence young adults' motivation to be self-employed. There is still significant room for research in exploring the motivations of young adults to become self-employed. The available literature concerning young adults' motivations for self-employment has focused on various factors such as job satisfaction, financial gain, personal fulfillment, and autonomy (Grilo & Thurik, 2008; Mueller & Conway, 2013). However, research indicates that these factors may not be the only drivers of entrepreneurial involvement among young people, and there are other factors that may influence their decision (Politis, 2005).

Further research is needed to understand the motivation of digitally working young adults to pursue self-employment. Currently, there is a limited number of qualitative studies on this topic, with only one identified in a recent literature review (Akosah-Twumasi et al., 2018). Conducting additional qualitative research can provide valuable insights into the decision-making process and subjective experiences of this demographic. It can also help identify common trends driving their motivation for self-employment. This knowledge can inform the development of strategies and interventions to promote and support self-employment among young adults.

The motivation for this thesis came from the author's personal observation during an exchange period abroad, where she noticed many young adults working for themselves. Three main issues prompted the author's interest in the research problem. Firstly, the challenging economic conditions may be limiting traditional job opportunities, leading young adults to consider self-employment as a means of securing their financial future. Secondly, young adults value autonomy and control over their work, which they see as attainable through self-employment. Lastly, the changing attitudes and values of young adults, particularly among millennials and Gen Z, drive their interest in pursuing work aligned with their personal interests and passions. These insights are supported by studies and reports like The Deloitte Global Millennial Survey of 2020 (Deloitte, 2020) and the 2020/2021 Global Entrepreneurship Monitor report (Borsma et al., 2021).

With the accessibility of social media and the internet, self-employment has become more appealing and feasible to young adults. This aspect is worth exploring further, especially given the limited existing research in this area. Understanding the emotional impact of social media is crucial, considering its widespread use among young adults. It is important to consider the contextual perspective, as individuals' emotions may vary depending on the specific time and context of their engagement with social media. Chen and Xiao (2022) discovered that emotional experiences related to social media are influenced by personal experiences and interpersonal interactions, which can vary over time.

This **study aims** to explore and understand the motivation towards pursuing a career in self-employment among digitally working young adults. By understanding the factors that drive young adults to become self-employed, we can better understand how to support this growing trend and potentially create more opportunities for new businesses to thrive. The study can have significant implications for policymakers, educators and other stakeholders who are interested in promoting entrepreneurship and self-employment among young adults. Studying this topic will also bring valuable insight and potential opportunities for employers on how to make workplaces more welcoming and interesting for young adults. It might also have the opportunity to help and motivate young adults to be self-employed.

In order to fulfil the research aim, the following **research questions** were developed:

- What are the intrinsic and extrinsic motivational factors why young adults have chosen to become self-employed?
- What kind of role do economic conditions play in the decision of young adults to become self-employed?
- What role does social media and the internet play in shaping the perceptions of young adults towards self-employment?
- How do young adults perceive the risks and challenges associated with self-employment as compared to more traditional employment options?

A qualitative research approach was used to understand the motivations of young adults to pursue a career in self-employment. In this thesis the researcher considers young adults to be 19 to 35 years old. Through semi-structured interviews with six young adults who are currently self-employed and working fully digitally, this research hopes to shed light on the personal, societal and economic motivations driving this trend. It is worth noting that self-employment refers to the

act of working as an independent contractor or freelancer to generate income. Although selfemployment shares similarities with entrepreneurship, it is not necessarily synonymous, as entrepreneurship typically entails a primary focus on establishing a new business venture. Digitally working in this research means that the participants are working through their computers regardless of their geographical location in job titles such as graphic designer, e-commerce owner, designer, content creator and online coach.

The thesis is structured into three main sections: theory, methods, and results. The first chapter provides a literature review on motivational theories and introduces entrepreneurship and self-employment, highlighting their economic significance. The second chapter outlines the qualitative methodology, including research planning, sample selection, data collection, and research results. The third chapter focuses on the empirical part, analyzing the interview data, presenting results, answering research questions, and providing recommendations.

It is with sincere gratitude that the author of this thesis acknowledges the participation of all interviewees. In order to collect the needed data and then complete this thesis, the author is grateful for all the knowledge, experiences and opinions these interviewees provided.

#### 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review identifies gaps in existing research, explores relevant theories and concepts, and examines previous research methodologies. It establishes the research's relevance and significance, informs the research questions, and guides methodology selection and data analysis.

The upcoming literature review chapter provides an overview of motivation theories, defines entrepreneurship and self-employment, and discusses youth career and self-employment motivations. It also explores the influence of social media and the internet on self-employment, the role of social and economic environment, and the risks associated with self-employment.

#### 1.1. Theories of motivation

There are several well-known theories about motivation including motivational theory (Reeve, 2018), self-regulating theory (Bandura, 1997), self-determination theory highlighting the internal and external motivators (Deci & Ryan, 1985). These different theories will be gone briefly through in the upcoming chapter. These theories are chosen to be the ones that are used to develop the interview questions and for analysing the data in this bachelor thesis.

Motivational theory is a collection of principles and concepts that explore human motivation. It seeks to uncover the driving factors behind individuals' actions and behaviours. This complex concept has been extensively studied in various fields like psychology, sociology, and business. In business, motivational theory helps to understand employee performance and motivation to improve organizational productivity (Lunenburg, 2011), since it offers a valuable framework for understanding and explaining human motivation across different areas.

Motivational theory can be divided into various approaches, including cognitive, behavioural, social, and physiological (Reeve, 2018). The cognitive approach emphasizes the importance of individual's thoughts, beliefs, and highlights self-efficacy, attributions, and goal setting (Bandura,

1997; Locke & Latham, 2002). The behavioural approach focuses on the relationship between environmental stimuli and behaviour, arguing that behaviour is primarily driven by rewards and punishments (Skinner, 1953). The social approach emphasizes the role of social interactions and relationships in shaping motivation, highlighting the importance of social support, belongingness, and relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 1985). The physiological approach emphasizes the role of biological factors, such as hormones and neurotransmitters, in shaping motivation (Reeve, 2018).

Self-regulation theory is a set of principles and concepts aimed at understanding how individuals regulate and control their own behaviour. According to this theory, individuals can monitor and adjust their own thoughts, feelings, and actions to achieve their goals and maintain a sense of self-control (Carver & Scheier, 2018). It suggests that individuals have a limited amount of self-control resources, and that these resources can be depleted over time through use. Researchers have also identified various factors that can influence self-regulation, including motivation, emotion, and cognitive processes (Baumeister & Vohs, 2016).

Internal and external motivators refer to the factors that influence an individual's drive for specific behaviours or achieving goals. Internal motivators come from within the individual, including factors such as personal values, self-esteem, and interest in the activity. External motivators, however, originate outside the individual and include rewards, punishments, or social pressures (Deci & Ryan, 2008). Although both types of motivators can be effective in driving behaviour, research suggests that internal motivators are generally more effective and lead to better outcomes in the long run (Deci & Ryan, 2008). When individuals are driven by intrinsic motivation, they are more likely to engage in activities that align with their values and interests, leading to a greater sense of fulfilment and well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Understanding the role of internal and external motivators is crucial for individuals seeking to achieve their goals and organizations aiming to motivate their employees.

According to Self-Determination Theory (SDT), internal motivators are more effective in driving long-term, sustainable behaviour change than external motivators. This theory emphasizes the importance of intrinsic motivation, or doing something because it is inherently rewarding, rather than relying on external rewards or punishment. Within SDT, there are three basic psychological needs that drive intrinsic motivation: autonomy, competence, and relatedness. This internal motivation is associated with higher levels of engagement, well-being, and long-term persistence in pursuing goals. The combination of internal and external motivators can influence an

individual's behaviour in many ways, and understanding how they work together can help in developing effective strategies (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

# 1.2. Defining entrepreneurship and self-employment and explaining their economic significance

The idea of entrepreneurship dates back to the 18th century, when the French economist Jean-Baptiste Say defined an entrepreneur as someone who "shifted economic resources out of an area of lower and into an area of higher productivity and greater yield" (Say, 1803). This concept of entrepreneurship as a force for innovation and progress has since been embraced by scholars and policymakers alike.

According to Shane and Venkataraman (2000), entrepreneurship is the process of identifying and starting a new business venture, sourcing, and organizing the required resources, taking both the risk and rewards associated with the venture, and creating, organizing, and managing a new business venture with the intention of making profits and meeting market needs. It is also noted that entrepreneurship involves recognizing opportunities and creating value through innovation (Baron, 2008). An entrepreneur is an individual who takes the initiative to innovate and bring new products, services, or business models into the market. Entrepreneurship involves identifying an opportunity in the market, developing a plan, securing resources, and executing the plan to achieve the desired outcomes.

Self-employment, on the other hand, refers to working for oneself as a freelancer, consultant, or independent contractor, without being directly employed by an organization (EuroStat, 2019). Self-employed individuals are responsible for managing their own income, expenses, taxes, and legal obligations. They rely on their skills, expertise, and reputation to attract clients and generate income.

Self-employment is considered one of the key employment options for young adults. Self-employment encourages young people to use their skills, creativity, and entrepreneurial abilities to create jobs and contribute to the economy (Obschonka et al., 2017). Research has shown that the social and economic environment plays a critical role in influencing the self-employment decision of young adults (Wang & Huang, 2019).

The main difference between entrepreneurship and self-employment is the objective of the activity. Entrepreneurship is primarily focused on creating a new business venture that can grow and generate significant profits, whereas self-employment is more about working as an independent contractor or freelancer to earn an income in a specific field (EuroStat, 2019). Entrepreneurship typically involves innovation, risk-taking, and scalability, while self-employment may be more about flexibility, autonomy, and work-life balance.

Scholars have examined the significance of self-employment and entrepreneurship for the business world. They promote innovation and creativity, leading to new products, services, and business models. By identifying needs and opportunities in the market, they can develop unique and innovative solutions that add value to customers (Barringer & Ireland, 2012). Moreover, they can introduce new technologies, processes, and business practices that enhance efficiency and competitiveness, leading to better products and services (Yimamu, 2018).

Self-employment and entrepreneurship create jobs, contributing to employment growth and reducing unemployment rates. According to Kautonen, Kibler, and Minniti (2017), entrepreneurs are job creators, and their firms tend to have higher job creation rates than established firms. These firms also tend to offer higher wages and more flexible working conditions than traditional employment models. Therefore, self-employment and entrepreneurship can reduce job insecurity and contribute to economic growth.

They also contribute to economic growth through wealth creation and tax revenue generation. Successful businesses built upon their ideas generate new value, resulting in increased incomes and an improved standard of living. Moreover, their businesses generate tax revenue, which can fund public goods and services, like education and infrastructure (Audretsch & Keilbach, 2004).

In summary, self-employment and entrepreneurship play vital roles in driving innovation, job creation, and economic growth. It is crucial for policymakers and business leaders to cultivate an enabling environment that fosters and supports entrepreneurship to attain sustainable economic development.

### 1.3. Youth career and self-employment motivations

Several studies have investigated the motivation of young adults for pursuing self-employment. Self-Determination Theory (SDT) provides a relevant theoretical framework, highlighting intrinsic motivation, autonomy, and competence as influential factors in the decision to become self-employed (Gielnik et al., 2015). Additionally, Self-Regulation Theory (SRT) emphasizes the importance of self-regulation in goal setting, planning, and monitoring progress, including in the context of self-employment (Baumeister et al., 2016).

In terms of internal and external motivators, previous studies have found that intrinsic factors such as a desire for independence, personal growth, and fulfilment are key motivators for young adults pursuing self-employment (McMullen & Shepherd, 2006; Hay et al., 2002), as are extrinsic factors such as perceived market opportunities (Shane, 2003) and financial benefits (Davidsson & Honig, 2003).

Motivational theory has also been applied to understanding young adults' motivation for self-employment. For example, the Expectancy Theory suggests that individuals base decisions on perceived chances of success and the desirability of outcomes (Vroom, 1964). This theory may help explain why some individuals are more motivated to pursue self-employment despite the potential risks and uncertainties involved.

Akosah-Twumasi et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review examining the influence of culture on youths' career choices. The review analysed 30 studies from various countries, revealing that culture significantly shapes beliefs, values, and norms related to work and occupations. The study identified key cultural factors affecting career choices, including parental influence, perception of careers, cultural norms and values, gender norms and values, and attained education. Intrinsic factors such as personal interests, knowledge, skills, and outcome expectations, as well as extrinsic factors like financial benefits and job security, were also identified. The study emphasizes the importance of culturally sensitive career guidance programs to help youths make informed choices aligned with their interests, abilities, and values, while addressing the challenges specific to different cultures.

Lent et al. (1994) conducted a study to examine the relationship between self-efficacy, outcome expectations, interests, and career choice among college students. They surveyed 233

undergraduates and found significant connections related to their career choice between students' self-efficacy beliefs and outcome expectations. Students' personal interests were also related to their career choice. The study supported the Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT), which proposes that individuals' career choices are influenced by their self-efficacy beliefs, outcome expectations, and personal interests. The findings suggest that career interventions and counselling should focus on building students' self-efficacy beliefs and outcome expectations while also helping them explore their interests and passions.

Hirschi and Herrmann (2012) investigated the influence of perceived job opportunities, parental support, self-efficacy, and interests on the career choices of adolescents. They surveyed 436 high school students and found that perceived job opportunities, self-efficacy, and interests significantly predicted career aspirations. Students who perceived more job opportunities in their desired career field, had higher self-efficacy beliefs, and expressed more interest in their desired career were more likely to aspire to pursue that career. Parental support was found to have no significant influence on career aspirations. The findings suggest that students' beliefs about job opportunities, self-efficacy, and interests play important roles in shaping their career aspirations.

The study by Albion and Fogarty (2002) aimed to identify the most important factors influencing career decision-making among adolescents and adults. They reviewed previous research and identified personality, self-concept, gender, parental and peer influence, cultural and socioeconomic factors, and access to information and resources as significant predictors. However, the study highlighted that the importance of these factors varied among individuals and specific career decisions. The researchers emphasized the need for further research on the topic and the importance of considering the diversity of experiences and backgrounds among those making career decisions.

Fabio et al. (2014) explored how personality influences career decision-making difficulties among Italian young adults. The researchers surveyed 305 Italian university students and found that certain personality traits were related to greater career decision-making difficulties. Specifically, higher levels of neuroticism and lower levels of conscientiousness correlated with greater challenges in career decision-making. The study also found that certain coping styles, like problem-focused coping, were associated with lower levels of career decision-making difficulties, while avoidant coping was associated with higher levels of difficulties. These findings emphasize

the importance of personality and coping styles in the career decision-making process, suggesting that interventions targeting coping skills may alleviate difficulties faced by young adults.

Schreurs et al. (2009) studied the relationship between job applicants' selection expectations, job pursuit behaviour, and the mediating role of the theory of planned behaviour (TPB). TPB suggests that attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioural control influence individuals' intentions and behaviour. The researchers hypothesized that selection expectations, defined as the applicants' beliefs about the selection process and their chances of being hired, would predict their job pursuit behaviour, and this relationship would be mediated by TPB constructs. The study involved 202 job applicants from diverse organizations and industries in Belgium. Participants completed a survey that measured their selection expectations, TPB constructs, and job pursuit behaviour. The results showed that selection expectations positively correlated with applicants' intentions to pursue the job and their perceived behavioural control. The relationship between selection expectations and job pursuit behaviour was partially mediated by intentions, attitudes, and perceived behavioural control, supporting TPB predictions.

Despite the significant body of research on this topic, there is still much to explore, including the specific contextual and cultural factors that may impact young adults' motivation for self-employment (Foss & Morris, 2018). Future research could examine the long-term outcomes of self-employment, including the impact on personal and professional development, financial success, and overall life satisfaction.

# 1.4. The role of social media and internet in influencing self-employment

Social media has become an indispensable aspect of modern communication, and its usage has increased significantly, particularly in the post-pandemic era. Recent research indicates that approximately 3 billion people worldwide are using social media to connect (Iwamoto & Chun, 2020). This rising number of social media users is spending an increasing amount of time on various social networking sites, as statistics reveal that on average individuals spend 2 hours per day exchanging pictures and messages, updating their status, tweeting, liking and commenting on socially shared information (Abbott, 2013).

Social media platforms such as LinkedIn, Twitter, and Facebook offer a wide range of resources for individuals to research and connect with various organizations and professionals in their areas of interest, including individuals to explore with numerous opportunities to discover for example new career paths online. Also, internet search engines provide access to a wealth of career-related information to help individuals make educated career decisions.

The impact of social media on career choices has been extensively studied. According to a study by the National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE), over 90% of employers use social media to screen potential employees. Additionally, social media platforms provide an avenue for individuals to showcase their skills and achievements. A study by Williams and Almand (2014) found that LinkedIn profiles with more comprehensive information about an individual's skills resulted in higher job offers. Furthermore, social media platforms offer a way for individuals to connect with professionals in their area of interest, providing valuable mentorship and networking opportunities (Pena et al., 2022).

The internet has also played a significant role in influencing career choices. A study by Al-Amin et al. (2019) found that most job seekers use online job search engines as their primary job search tool. Online job search engines provide individuals with a broad range of opportunities to explore, apply, and connect with potential employers. Additionally, the internet offers access to lots of career-related information, including job descriptions, salary information, and industry trends.

Despite the benefits of social media and internet in influencing career choices, there are also potential drawbacks. Increased reliance on social media platforms may lead to a skewed perception of reality, leading individuals towards unrealistic career paths. Individuals may face challenges in navigating the vast amount of information available online regarding career choices, leading to confusion and indecisiveness (Kane et al., 2014).

During the past few decades, self-employment has become increasingly popular in many countries across the globe. According to data from the International Labour Organization (ILO), the percentage of self-employed people in the workforce has been continuously increasing, reaching 29.1% in 2019 (ILO, 2020). This trend is particularly noticeable in developing countries, where self-employment is often seen as a viable option due to the lack of formal employment opportunities (Ayyagari et al., 2007).

One possible explanation for the rise in self-employment is the growth of the gig economy, which has enabled people to work on a freelance basis and offer their services to clients through digital platforms such as Uber, Airbnb, and Upwork (Kalleberg & Dunn, 2016). Technological advancements and the shift towards remote work, accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic, have further supported individuals in working independently and starting their own businesses (Wang et al., 2021).

# 1.5. The role of social and economic environment in influencing selfemployment

The socio-economic environment for being self-employed can vary significantly depending on several factors such as the country, the industry, the skills, and resources required, and the level of business acumen. In general, being self-employed can offer several benefits, such as greater autonomy, flexibility, and potentially higher income potential. However, it also involves several challenges, such as having to navigate complex regulatory and tax frameworks, dealing with unpredictable income, and often requiring significant investment of time and resources upfront. According to Minniti et al. (2006), some socio-economic factors that can influence the environment for self-employment include:

- 1. Government policies and regulations: different countries have different regulations and policies pertaining to self-employment that can significantly impact the ease and cost of starting and running a business.
- 2. Economic conditions: the state of the economy in each country can affect the level of demand for various goods and services, which can have implications for the potential success of a self-employed individual.
- 3. Education and training: access to education and training programs can impact the availability of skilled individuals who can provide services or products that are in demand.
- 4. Access to capital: having access to capital, whether through loans or other means, can be a crucial factor in enabling individuals to start and grow their businesses.

5. Cultural attitudes: cultural attitudes towards self-employment can influence the level of support and recognition that self-employed individuals receive from their communities, as well as their own sense of self-worth and motivation.

The social environment is an essential factor that can influence the self-employment decision of young adults. Research has shown that social networks play a vital role in the decision-making process of young adults to start their own businesses (Sorenson, 2018). Social networks provide young adults with access to resources, knowledge, and information that are required to start and run a business. Social networks also provide emotional and psychological support to young adults during the initial stages of self-employment (Stuart & Sorenson, 2005).

The economic environment is a crucial factor that can influence the self-employment decision of young adults. Research has shown that the economic environment affects the availability of resources, access to finance, and the viability of starting a business (Mason & Brown, 2014). High economic growth rates, stable macroeconomic conditions, and favourable regulations can provide young adults with the necessary conditions to start their own businesses. Furthermore, access to finance, tax credits, and government grants can encourage young adults to become self-employed (Arauzo-Carod et al., 2015).

# 1.6. The risks related to self-employment

Self-employment and entrepreneurship are not without risks, since they often face numerous uncertainties, including financial and psychological strains (Reid et al., 2018). Despite the potential benefits of self-employment or entrepreneurship, there are concerns that this trend may exacerbate existing inequalities and result in greater job insecurity for some workers (Kalleberg & Dunn, 2016). Self-employment may not be a viable option for certain individuals, such as those who lack the necessary skills and resources to start their own business (Ayyagari et al., 2007).

Self-employment carries financial risks, impacting both individuals and their families (Bandura et al., 2018). Income fluctuations and limited access to benefits are common challenges faced by self-employed individuals (EUR-Lex., 2019; Moore & Mueller, 2002). Socio-economic factors can also hinder self-employment for those living in poverty or with limited education, due to barriers

like lack of financing and business training (Ayyagari et al., 2007). Addressing social and economic inequalities is crucial for fostering equal opportunities in entrepreneurship.

One risk to consider as well is the legal side of being self-employed or an entrepreneur, who must navigate complex legal frameworks, such as tax codes and employment laws, which can be challenging and time-consuming. Furthermore, self-employed individuals are responsible for their own legal compliance, which can be costly for the individual if not properly managed (Doran, 2009). As a result, it is essential for self-employed to seek legal counsel and maintain up-to-date knowledge of the relevant laws and regulations to minimize legal risks.

Another risk related to self-employment is psychological, arising from the stress of running the business and the isolation it may bring. Research has suggested that self-employed individuals may experience higher levels of stress and poorer mental health than employed counterparts (Andersson, 2008). Additionally, the lack of organizational support, such as training and development resources, may exacerbate these negative effects (Reid et al., 2018).

Self-employment poses physical health risks as individuals may perform physically demanding tasks, increasing the likelihood of work-related injuries. Khan et al. (2021) conducted a critical review of existing literature, revealing that self-employment is associated with negative physical health outcomes. Factors contributing to this include long working hours, work-related stress, and limited access to benefits like sick leave and health insurance. The absence of adequate support may compel self-employed individuals to continue working despite injuries, exacerbating their condition, and leading to long-term health issues. These findings emphasize the importance of prioritizing the health and well-being of self-employed individuals through measures such as promoting work-life balance, managing work-related stress, and enhancing access to benefits and protections.

Another important risk to consider is the potential for financial loss. Self-employment can involve significant financial investments, like start-up costs and ongoing expenses. If the business fails to generate sufficient revenue, there may be significant financial losses. This can lead to personal and professional setbacks, such as bankruptcy and damage to their credit rating, which may affect their future business prospects and career opportunities.

A risk associated with self-employment is the potential for social isolation. Due to the nature of their work, self-employed individuals may have limited opportunities for social interaction and networking, which can result in feelings of loneliness and disconnection (Reid et al., 2018). This can be particularly challenging for individuals who rely on social support networks, such as those with mental health conditions or disabilities. As such, it is important to seek out opportunities for socialization and networking, such as attending conferences and joining professional organizations.

Finally, self-employment can offer numerous benefits, such as greater flexibility and autonomy, but it is not without risks. Entrepreneurs and self-employed people must navigate financial, legal, psychological, physical, and social risks associated with self-employment. These risks underscore the importance of careful planning, seeking appropriate professional guidance, and developing resilience to cope with the challenges that arise in the pursuit of entrepreneurial success.

## 2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter provides an overview of the methodological choices that were made in order to carry out the study, analyse and present the results. These include the research design, sampling criteria and sample as well as data collection and analysis methods.

#### 2.1. Research design and sample

The author chose qualitative research method to understand the phenomenon extensively, which enables a more comprehensive and nuanced understanding of the topic, exploration of new areas, and adaptability to the needs of the research questions and sample (Creswell, 2013). Furthermore, in a systematic literature review focusing on the factors that influence youths career choices, it was found that only one of the 30 articles that they had reviewed had used qualitative study design and it was recommended to have further qualitative studies on this topic to get an in-depth understanding of the influences on youth's career choices and to allow casual inferences to be made (Akosah-Twumasi et al., 2018).

The study sample consisted of six interviewees (Table 1). The criteria for choosing the sample of young adults was their age (19-35 years), gender mix, being currently self-employed for around one year, and working fully digitally, as this helps to create a more focused study. The participants job titles included graphic designer, e-commerce owner, designer, content creator and online coach. Focusing on young adults in the age group, it was possible to target individuals who are likely to have recently completed their education and have had a bit of other work-experience already. Including participants of all genders ensured a more inclusive and representative sample. Selecting individuals with at least one year of self-employment experience allowed for a deeper understanding of the long-term challenges, rewards, and motivations associated with being self-employed.

Table 1. Interviewees' background information

	Interviewee						
No.	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	
Age	28	32	19	35	27	30	
Gender	Male	Female	Male	Male	Female	Female	
Nationality	Finnish	Portuguese	American	Irish	Russian	Canadian	

Source: Compiled by author

The author found interviewees from social media using different hashtags (in Instagram for example #selfemployed, #digitalnomad, #digitallyselfemployed, #freelancer) or from LinkedIn by searching people by job titles (for example self-employed, freelancer, designer) and approached them by directly messaging the person. The author conducted interviews in an online format using Microsoft Teams. All participants were told their rights and asked for approval to record in the beginning before starting the interviews. The interviews were conducted in weeks 15, 16 and 17 of the year 2023. The interview times ranged from 35 minutes to 85 minutes, mostly being around 60 minutes. The interviews were transcribed by using the automatic transcribing feature in Microsoft Teams and also audio-recorded on the author's recording device.

# 2.2. Data collection and analysis methods

Semi-structured interviews were the primary data collection method in this research, chosen for their flexibility and open-ended format. The author opted for this approach to explore various topics and delve deeper into participants' motivations and experiences. A key-benefit when using semi-structured interviews is allowing a focus on participants' experiences while considering theoretically driven variables of interest (Galletta, 2013), aligning with the research needs.

The author developed an interview guide by herself for the semi-structured interviews based on motivational theories (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Bandura, 1997; Reeve, 2018) and studies about youth career motivation (Akosah-Twumasi et al., 2018; Lent et al., 1994; Fabio et al., 2014). The author asked 36 questions from the participants (Appendix 1). During an interview, every interviewee received similar questions concerning a particular theme, in the following order: the basic background, intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, self-regulation, social media and the internet, and socio-economic environment. The author kept the order of the individual questions very open, depending on which direction the interviewee's answers went and adapted to it.

The author followed Galletta's (2013) guidelines for conducting semi-structured interviews, where she firstly introduced the research purpose, thanked participants, explained their rights, and requested audio recording and transcription. The questions were structured to focus on the research question and allow for deeper exploration of earlier ideas. The author recognized participants' willingness to explore certain topics more and concluded by asking additional input.

The first section captures participants' nationality, educational background, previous work experiences, and their initial thoughts on self-employment. In the second section, the researcher employs various tools to uncover motivations for self-employment. The subsequent section explores participants' general understanding of self-employment and its significance to them. This includes their personal experiences and observations of self-employment within their immediate and broader social circles, as well as their national context. Factors such as parental influence, educational experiences, social influences, and potential fears or concerns are examined. The participants' perception of government support for self-employment and suggestions for alternative approaches are also explored. Finally, the participants are given an opportunity to freely express their thoughts, adding a lighter tone towards the end.

The interviews were audio-recorded and automatically transcribed using Microsoft Teams' functions. The link to the transcibed interviews can be found from Appendix 2.

The process of thematic qualitative research involves identifying patterns and themes in qualitative data to gain insights into human experiences, perceptions, and beliefs, with thematic coding being a specific method used to analyze the data. The author chose to use thematic coding, because it has been shown to be an effective way to explore complex topics and communicate findings, as demonstrated by the study conducted by Guest et al. (2012). The data collected from the interviews were analyzed using thematic analysis to thoroughly explore the topic. The coding of the data was done by using different text highlighting colours that had different thematic meanings to identify patterns, and themes. Basic background questions were highlighted with yellow (\_), intrinsic and extrinsic motivation was pink (\_), when talking about negative aspects considering motivation or other challenges the colour that was used was dark green (\_), self-regulation questions had a grey colour (\_), questions regarding social media and the internet had a light blue colour (\_), lastly questions regarding the socio-economical conditions used green colour (\_).

#### 3. RESULTS & FINDINGS

The third chapter will present and discuss empirical findings based on the research questions. It will also develop prectical suggestions for different stakeholder groups.

#### 3.1. Data analysis and results

#### 3.1.1 Intrinsic motivational factors for self-employed young adults

The interviews revealed similar patterns regarding the intrinsic motivational factors when they explained why young adults have chosen to become self-employed. Topics regarding the reason why choosing self-employance that were most brought up, which can be seen also in the following quotes, were freedom and flexibility, in the sense of being your own boss, expressing yourself truthfully, and doing work when and where you want to.

"Freedom is the huge thing. I mean, I'll definitely get into the money in a second, but freedom's just super nice. Like it's, I guess, different people are wired different ways. I just love the freedom of my time, my movement. Like if I want to just go to the gym middle of the day, perfect. It's nice and quiet. ""I like making good money. To be honest. I grew up pretty poor. So it's it's always been a motivation. For me to not be struggling for money and so with the business that's good. Like you put in direct effort, you get a direct reward and I like that." — Interviewee #4

This quote represents the perspective of Interviewee #4 on their motivation to be self-employed. The interviewee mentions that freedom is a significant factor, as they value the ability to control their time and movements. Additionally, the interviewee acknowledges that making good money is an important factor for them. It provides insight into the multifaceted nature of motivation for self-employment, as it highlights both the intrinsic motivation of seeking freedom and the extrinsic motivation of financial stability.

"Freedom all the way. Like I get to choose the projects that I want to work on, so therefore I can work on, I don't know, more interesting projects, more perspective ones. "- Interviewee #5

The quote by Interviewee #5 suggests that having autonomy and control over their work is a significant motivation for this individual to be self-employed. The emphasis on working on interesting and perspective projects suggests that they find personal fulfillment and satisfaction in their work beyond just financial compensation. This perspective aligns with research on entrepreneurial motivation, which suggests that autonomy, passion, and a desire for personal fulfillment are significant drivers for individuals to pursue self-employment.

"I would say the flexibility and for me personally is the feeling of like fulfillment. I feel very fulfilled. And what I do every day, it doesn't matter what it is. It could be a, you know, a flyer design. It could be a branding, it could be whatever. I feel like I'm living my purpose and for like, I don't even know how you put a value on that. It's just very different. "— Interviewee #6

Interviewee #6 expresses that the flexibility of their work, along with the feeling of fulfillment, are the most significant aspects of their job. They believe that they are living their purpose and that this sense of purpose cannot be quantified. The interviewee's focus on fulfillment and purpose suggests that they value job satisfaction over financial rewards.

The interviews suggest that intrinsic motivation theory, as proposed by Deci and Ryan, is relevant to understanding the motivation of self-employed people. The freedom to manage their time and movement is a significant motivator for them, as it allows them to pursue other interests and priorities in their life. At the same time, the direct correlation between effort and reward is an indication of the satisfaction they derive from feeling competent in their work. They highlight the fulfillment they feel in their work, regardless of the project they are working on. This suggests that their motivation is not solely based on financial gain, but rather on the personal satisfaction and meaning they derive from their work.

"I'm a very driven person by nature. So I feel very confident in going all in on myself. It's not for everybody. But for me, I definitely feel like I can make things happen. So I wanted to prove that to myself. It was the ultimate challenge was to drop everything and risk at all and just see if I can make it happen. So it was like a passion." – Interviewee #6

Additionally, what was evident from the interviews, was that the interviewees felt a deeper feeling/drive/need to be self-employed. These people really, deep down, want to grow and be more all the time, they have a certain kind of mindset that is needed for this. The drive to be self-employed seemed to be deeply ingrained in their personalities, and it was evident that they had a strong sense of purpose and passion for their work.

#### 3.1.2 Extrinsic motivational factors for self-employed young adults

The interviewees revealed similar extrinsic motivational factors, and wanting to be in a good financial state was one of them. Having money was a goal to go for, but after reaching a certain financial point with what they were satisified themselves, it was more about what they could start giving back. This was connected to the deeper feeling they had inside, but none of the interviewees denied that money didn't have any motivation for them. This could be seen on doing things that were not their favourite, but knowing that they had to do it to reach a bigger goal that they had set for themselves.

"I mean, yes (money is a big driver), but just to a certain extent. I just like being able to do what makes me happy at the end of the day." – Interviewee #3

This quote suggests that while money is important, it is not the only motivator for the interviewee to be self-employed. The interviewee considers doing what brings them happiness highly important, implying that personal fulfillment and satisfaction play a crucial role in their choice to pursue self-employment.

"If you are employee designer, you don't earn that much. So in terms of progression of career and the potential of earnings, being self-employed is a lot more appealing." "The amounts about the money people were earning as freelancers and working for other people in creative businesses in Portugal, and it's very clear that when you are a freelancer you start lower, but you have a huge potential and if you work for someone else, you stay in that."—Interviewee #2

In this quote, Interviewee #2 emphasizes the financial aspect of self-employment as a designer. They point out that as an employee, the earning potential is limited, and that being self-employed allows for more career progression and higher earnings. The interviewee also notes that while freelancers may start out earning less, they have the potential for higher earnings compared to those who work for someone else in the industry. This suggests that financial motivation is an

important factor for some individuals in choosing self-employment as a career path, as it offers greater control over earnings and career progression.

Deci and Ryan's extrinsic motivation theory suggests that external factors like rewards, recognition, and financial incentives drive individuals. The quotes above highlight how potential earnings and career advancement motivate people to choose self-employment, which indicates that factors like financial gain and social status play a significant role in their decision-making. However, the quotes also suggest that intrinsic motivations, such as the need for independence, adaptability, and personal fulfillment, have a substantial impact on their decision to pursue self-employment. While financial incentives are important, they are not the sole determining factor, especially for individuals who grew up poor.

#### 3.1.3 Role of socio-economic conditions for self-employed young adults

The interviewees talked how economic conditions impacted the decision of young adults to start self-employance. Many mentioned that they had more possibilities to evolve faster financially when being self-employed, since all the money came directly to them without any intermediaries. Additionally, they could charge more from clients when going forward in their career. It was pointed out that usually they saw someone else do it first and got the braveness or motivation to go for it themselves as well. This indicates that people need reassurance before jumping into something unknown.

"It's more like when you see someone do it. You know it's possible to do it as well, like it's different. You can see someone online do it. But when you see someone you know, do it. It's a lot like, you know, way more certain that, OK, I can do this as well."- Interviewee #1

The interviewee's quote suggests that observing others who have succeeded in self-employment can have a significant impact on an individual's own perception of the possibility of pursuing self-employment. The quote also implies that seeing someone who is known to the individual succeed in self-employment can be even more impactful and inspiring than observing a stranger's success online. This perspective highlights the importance of social networks and personal connections in influencing an individual's decision to pursue self-employment.

"he was telling me a story. He worked for Air Canada and he showed up drunk for work so many times that they gave him nine months paid leave to, like, get his life together, which I think only Canada would do this. And he had like, taken this money, he'd taken his software course and he started the software business and that was making like millions a year. Basically he came up with the software." "so this moment for me was like the ohh it's possible to be self-employed because this guy is like literally nearly getting hit by a car and stuff like I can do this so and I've seen this. I like such motivation." – Interviewee #4

In this quote, the interviewee #4 describes how they were inspired by the story of someone who had overcome personal struggles and successfully transitioned to self-employment. The story serves as a source of motivation for the interviewee, who sees it as proof that self-employment is a viable option for anyone, regardless of their background or past experiences. This suggests that personal narratives, experiences and success stories can serve as motivators for self-employment, particularly those who are familiar, serve as influential motivators.

"When I started, I think there weren't a lot of things online that I could lean in, but then I did the the Michael gender course that helped me a lot. And also another one about budgets. And and then from the point I started researching about it. I did find a lot of things that helped me. But they are not like coming to you. You do have to have the will to look for them. And there's a designer from Porto. She's called Juana and she works mainly with international clients and she has their own agency." – Interviewee #2

This quote reveals the interviewee's experience with seeking out educational resources and role models to improve their skills and knowledge about being self-employed. The reference to a course and a budgeting resource suggests a proactive approach to self-education and development. The statement that "they are not like coming to you" indicates that the interviewee had to actively search for information and resources related to self-employment. The interviewee references the designer Juana from Porto, who is a source of inspiration for her, highlighting the value of identifying successful individuals in the field as role models.

"I did a lot of studying on my own online courses, some master classes, I had very good mentors in my career path. Basically my colleagues, but the ones that were really open to teach me something. So yeah, that's how I grew basically." – Interviewee #5

The quote highlights the interviewee's dedication to self-improvement and pursuit of knowledge, as they have taken it upon themselves to study online courses and seek out mentors to help them

grow in their career path. The mention of colleagues who were "really open to teach" also emphasizes the importance of building a supportive network in the creative industry. The quote underscores the idea that continuous learning and mentorship are key to success.

"There is one in particular which is called, and it has such a like spammy sounding name, but it's the millionaire fast lane by a guy. MJ DeMarco. It's a really, really good book. It's helped a lot of people." – Interviewee #4

The interviewee #4 praises the book they had read regardless of the name and suggests that it has helped many people. This quote indicates that books and other forms of media can play a significant role in shaping individuals' attitudes and beliefs about self-employment and can provide valuable guidance and advice.

Every interviewee told when asked if they had gotten any help, about mentors they had spoken with or listened, books they had read or courses they had taken to really make sure they know more. Also, a sense of community and the importance of giving back to others who may be in need of mentorship or support. This underscores the value of finding like-minded individuals and forming meaningful connections that can help in achieving success as an entrepreneur. But everyone pointed out that at first the journey of becoming and later being self-employed, is a learning process, that everyone has to go through and it will be different for everyone. They highlighted that you have to be okay at being/doing bad at first. You learn from the mistakes you make. The interviewees in this study have demonstrated the importance of self-education and seeking out mentors as crucial factors that have helped them achieve success in their self-employment.

"The fact that they could, if I knew that I wouldn't, uh, starve and I wouldn't be homeless because they were my safety net. I know that it can be a bit dramatic to put it like that, but it's actually true because you do have to feel that kind of thing, to not be so stressed out in beginning, and so in a way, they didn't really help with the management part because it's completely different, but they did help me to feel some kind of safety in the beginning. So I was able to try." — Interviewee #2

The interviewee #2's parents had a more traditional job and so offered a "safety net" that gave the interviewee a sense of security and allowed them to pursue self-employment without the fear of being homeless or starving. This quote highlights the importance of having a support system when

embarking on a new venture, particularly in the early stages when there may be uncertainty and financial instability. It also acknowledges that while traditional jobs may not provide all the skills needed for self-employment, they can still play a valuable role in providing a safety net and a sense of security

"At some point I started have big plans. I was working in consulting with the junior undergrad salary making like 2.5K a month. And that felt like nothing. You know, this felt like I'm not getting anywhere and I got into investing in Business School and I couldn't invest almost anything as much as I wanted to from that. So this is just felt pointless. I knew that I need to get more somewhere."" also when COVID first hit, I was a part-time employee and suddenly I didn't have too much hours to work. So that's where you kind of realize that jobs are viewed as a safe option, but a total like just to show that an event that happens out of nowhere can just drop your income to 0."- Interviewee #1

In this quote, the interviewee discusses their motivation to pursue self-employment due to a sense of dissatisfaction with their previous job in consulting, while having a junior undergrad salary. They mention that they had big plans and were interested in investing, but felt limited in their ability to do so. Additionally, they highlight the vulnerability of traditional jobs in times of crisis, referencing their experience with reduced hours due to COVID-19. The quote suggests that the Interviewee #1 was driven to pursue self-employment as a means of achieving greater financial and personal fulfillment, and as a way to gain more control over their income and career trajectory.

Some individuals who had prior experience in traditional jobs created a financial safety net before transitioning to self-employment. Those who pursued self-employment right after school felt more freedom to try it out, either due to confidence, frustration with their current careers, or having a support system to rely on financially Interviewee #2 mentions the support of parents with traditional jobs as a safety net to take the initial step. However, lacking the benefits of traditional employment can lead to financial risks and stress, as highlighted by Interviewee #2. Interviewee #1 refers to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on their part-time job, highlighting the unpredictability of even traditional employment and expressing a desire for more fulfillment through self-employment.

#### 3.1.4 The role of social media and the internet for self-employed young adults

Social media and the internet plays a role in shaping the perceptions of young adults towards self-employment. It was clear that the interviewed people knew that a lot about digitally self-employed life is glamorized online, but still it did make them partly want to pursue self-employment.

"I think so, because now we see more and more, even like any type of influencers and you don't know how they live, but you feel like they. Just the work or they like have a lot of freedom. They do whatever they want. They work like from whatever location they want. So of course you feel like you want to have at least a little bit of that. So I feel like partially can be." – Interviewee #5

The interviewee #5 believes that the rise of influencers who appear to have a lot of freedom and flexibility in their work has contributed to the desire for people to pursue self-employment. The interviewee believes that social media can be partially responsible for this trend, as people see the success and perceived benefits of self-employment and feel inspired to pursue it themselves.

"I take everything I say with a grain of salt. So you know online, you see lots of people talking about how flexible everything is, how wonderful it is to work from home or to work from, I don't know, Hawaii. You know, those types of things. because it's not always that way, certainly, but it definitely made me excited to to become an entrepreneur because you can see other people being able to do those kinds of things." – Interviewee #6

This quote above highlights the importance of media literacy and critical thinking when consuming information online. The internet is saturated with messages promoting entrepreneurship and the "digital nomad" lifestyle, but it is essential to recognize that these portrayals may not always be accurate or applicable to everyone's situation. The interviewee's acknowledgement of this fact demonstrates a thoughtful and nuanced approach to evaluating the claims made by online influencers and demonstrates the importance of developing a critical mindset in the digital age.

The quotes from Interviewee #5 and Interviewee #6 suggest that social media and online influencers have influenced people's perceptions of self-employment as a desirable career option. The allure of flexibility, autonomy, and the ability to work from anywhere is a recurring theme in their statements. Specifically, social media provides individuals with access to success stories and role models, which can inspire and motivate them to pursue self-employment. However, the quote

from Interviewee #6 also indicates a level of skepticism towards the online portrayal of selfemployment.

"So I really like try to separate that (strict division between working time and personal time) a lot. Remember times where I was not able even to talk about anything close to resign after work like I really wanted to turn my brain off and not to. Yeah, I feel I work better. Because I actually get some rest. So for me in order to keep this creativity, creativity is going. I really have to have some rest. I really have to turn myself off from work. Don't think about it and then come back the other day." — Interviewee #5

Interviewee #5 highlights the importance of work-life balance for both personal and professional well-being. They explain how they make a conscious effort to "turn [their] brain off" and avoid discussing work-related topics outside of working hours to keep their creativity and productivity alive.

The interviewees recognized the importance of self-regulation for maintaining a healthy work-life balance. Interviewee #5 emphasized the need to separate work and personal time for rest and creative rejuvenation. Interviewee #1 acknowledged the constant struggle to maintain attention and focus while working digitally. Some interviewees mentioned the difficulty of separating work and personal life, particularly for content creators and online coaches who feel the need to always be available to their audience or clients. Those who are more visible on social media or the internet mentioned receiving hate comments, but they cope by ignoring them and remaining open to constructive criticism, although it can still be challenging at times.

"This just gets the most engagement. You have to be in the game to be willing to offend some people, not on purpose. Obviously."- Interviewee #4

An interesting point that Interviewee #4 had was that if the content they create is too generic and doesn't make the audience feel in any way, or generate a reaction, it can be a bad thing. When you're trying to promote a product or service, this is quite common in marketing. On contrast, deliberately making themselves the target of hate comments of their own polarizing content output, is surprising and brave in the author's opinion. The Instagram reels where emotions are touched, and audience gets stared up, is what has most views and gets shared the most.

#### 3.1.5 The risks and challenges of young self-employed people

The interviews revealed how do young adults perceive the risks and challenges associated with self-employment as compared to more traditional employment options very thoroughly because many had had prior work-experince before becoming self-employed.

"Because there is not a stability aspect to it. You cannot depend on a paycheck every week. It needs to happen based off of you and your work ethic and what you're able to bring in. And so it's almost like sales focused, but it's not a stable environment to begin with. It takes quite a while to become stable." – Interviewee #6

The interviewee expresses concerns regarding the instability of self-employment, noting that unlike traditional employment where a paycheck is received every week, income generation depends on one's work ethic. This makes it a sales-focused endeavor that can take a long time to become stable. They highlight the financial risk associated with self-employment, which is an important consideration for those considering this path. The need for a stable income is a critical factor in people's decision to become self-employed or to remain in traditional employment.

"I mean, security is the first one that I think most people would agree on. It's like, you know, the flip side of you control your income is when it crashes, there's nobody like, ohh. Here's some. Here's some money for showing up this month. So that be the first one, I'd say stress and I'm fairly good at dealing with it." – Interviewee #4

The self-employed people knew what they were going for with the uncertainty, job-security of their career choice. While the challenges identified by the interviewees are not necessarily new, they provide further insight into the experiences of self-employed people in the current business landscape. These individuals have a certain mindset that drives them towards self-employment, despite the inherent uncertainty and lack of job security that comes with it.

"It's kind of related to my particular business but the privacy things sometimes and I try and like keep a good balance here but You know, it's like the demand of social media is, you like, present yourself a lot. So like, oh, this is what I'm doing. This is where we are. This is how things are. But I've tried to keep a good balance there. I don't show certain personal stuff like relationship with my wife when we have this kid. I'm not going to be showing all these things." – Interviewee #4

In this quote, Interviewee #4 discusses the challenges of maintaining a balance between personal privacy and the demands of social media in their business. The interviewee acknowledges that social media requires a constant stream of personal content, which can be difficult to maintain without compromising one's privacy. A big personal aspect is specifically the relationship with their wife and child which they choose not to share on social media. The quote suggests that the interviewee is aware of the importance of setting boundaries and maintaining a healthy balance between personal and professional life.

"Well, I think that that personal growth thing and the amount of things you have to learn by yourself are a bit hard. Well, you do suffer a little bit with your mistakes and everything's a bit more intense because the wins are very good and the losses are very bad." – Interviewee #2

Interviewee #2 highlights the challenges of being a self-employed individual, particularly the aspect of personal growth and the need to constantly learn and adapt to new situations. The interviewee's comment about the intensity of both wins and losses suggests that it can be emotionally challenging, as success and failure can have a significant impact on the individual. The quote provides insight into the personal challenges that come with starting and running a business.

"Mainly it's mental, like it's the ability to be OK with just being very, very bad at it for a while. And not caring what other people think. You have anything to talk about with your old friends because your, like, interests in life are so much different and everyone kind of wonders like, what? What is this guy doing? Because it doesn't look like much in the beginning." – Interviewee #1

Self-employment is a significant mental risk as one presents themselves openly without any hiding. This can be a good and a bad thing, such as standing truthfully for one's work but also risking negative recognition as the face of the company. The interviews highlight the challenges and opportunities associated with self-employment, aligning with previous research Interviewee #4 discusses the struggle of maintaining personal privacy while utilizing social media for business promotion. Interviewee #2 acknowledges personal growth and learning in self-employment, alongside the intensity of both successes and losees. Interviewee #1 emphasizes the mental resilience needed to handle self-employment challenges, including embracing failure and pursuing unconventional paths.

The quotes highlight some common challenges and experiences of being self-employed, but also suggest that are nuances and unique aspects to individual experiences. The importance of mindset, resilience, and learning from mistakes are consistent with previous research, but the quotes also suggest the need for research on the emotional and social aspects of self-employment.

#### 3.2. Discussion and recommendations

The discussion of the study's results can be divided into different specific areas. The first area for discussion is the focus on RQ1 about the intrinsic and extrinsic motivational factors, blended in with the RQ2 about the socio-economic factors. Next, the RQ3 and RQ4 are being more focused on which include the impact of social media and the internet and the risks and challenges self-employed individuals face. All these discussed areas are accompanied with suggestions for individuals thinking about self-employment as well as the institutions and work-places.

The interviews revealed that young adults choose self-employment due to various intrinsic motivational factors. The factors that showed most dominantly were freedom and flexibility. Being able to work on projects that interest them and being their own boss were also significant factors. Moreover, the interviewees felt a deeper need to grow and have a certain mindset required for self-employment.

Based on the study results, if one is thinking of becoming self-employed, crucial thing to have when you're starting out, is to find your core reason why you are wanting to become self-emplyed. Focus on the work you're passionate about and what makes you happy. This will help you stay motivated and engaged in your work. Institutions, like universities as well as workplaces should encourage individuals to explore their passions and interests, and how they could transform those into successful businesses. Universities could create a supportive environment that encourages experimentation, including access to mentors, advisors and coaces who can provide guidance and support. Workplaces should offer flexibility in work arrangements such as flexible schedules or remote work options, to allow individuals to have more freedom and to keep the workplaces interesting.

The extrinsic motivational factors also played a significant role in the decision to become selfemployed. Financial stability and potential for earning more money were the most common extrinsic factors. This is consistent with Moore and Mueller (2002) who found that access to financial resources, such as savings and loans, can facilitate self-employment. While the potential for higher earnings may be a motivator, nevertheless after rachieving a certain financial point, the interviewees shifted their focus from making money to giving back and achieving a bigger goal.

Based on the results of the interviews, if one is thinking to become self-employed solely on this reasoning, it should be considered a must to be smart with your money. Create a budget, save for emergencies, and plan for the future. Don't forget to account for taxes, insurance, and other expenses that come with running your own business. Institutions, like universities could help individuals extrinsic motivation go higher by offering financial incentives such as scholarships, grants and fellowships to support those interestes in self-employment so they could overcome financial barriers to starting their own businesses. They could also create entrepreneurial competitions to spark individuals to develop their business ideas and compete for prizes such as seed funding or mentorship opportunities.

The socio-economic conditions had a positive impact on the decision to become self-employed for the ones interviewed. This aligns with Minniti et al.'s (2006) finding that social networks and personal relationships can influence an individual's decision to become self-employed. Interviewees were inspired to pursue self-employment after hearing a story of someone who overcame struggles and achieved success. This suggests that personal narratives and stories can serve as motivators for self-employment, which is consistent with Minniti et al.'s (2006) findings that individuals who perceive self-employment as a viable option are more likely to pursue it. Overall, the quotes suggest that social and personal factors can play a significant role in the decision to pursue self-employment. The responses also align with Albion and Fogarty's (2002) study, which found that individuals' career decisions are influenced by a variety of factors, including personal experiences, family and social networks, and educational and training opportunities.

Based on the study results, the experiences and stories of others, particularly those who are familiar, can serve as powerful motivators and role models when considering career paths. One should also prioritize collaboration among others interested in self-employment, including networking events. Online communities as well as real life ones were highlighted a lot in a positive

way by the interviewees and their importance should be brought out more to the knowledge of individuals thinking of becoming self-employed. Workplaces should provide co-working spaces and online communities. Universities should bring more real-life stories out to their individuals and possibly inspire them to look more into those opportunities. They could for example ask their university's graduates to come and share their career stories to make it more specific for the university's students.

There is consistent with EUR-Lex (2019) which found that the lack of access to benefits is a major challenge faced by self-employed individuals. Even so, something new to be discovered regarding this is, that as seen from the quotes, this still has not stopped anyone to pursue self-employment, they have just learned to navigate through it because they have valued being self-employed so much more. The way an individual feels secure in their job, aligns with Bandura et al.'s (2018) finding that perceived job insecurity is a motivator for individuals to consider self-employment as a career choice.

Based on the study results, it is clear that job insecurity when being self-employed has two sides: you are solely dependent on yourself for earning money and it can be unstable occasionally, however, working for someone else can be unpredictable as seen with COVID-19 pandemic. Institutions, like universities could provide "hands-on" experience to individuals by offering opportunities to work on real-world projects or to collaborate with existing startups, which could provide a feel of what it's like to work as an entrepreneur or self-employed person. As governmental environments are complex and ever-changing, policy approaches should adapt accordingly. The type of intervention required will depend on the maturity of the environment, for instance, during the emergence stage, supporting start-up processes may be crucial. As the ecosystem evolves, assistance in areas such as organizational development, human capital development, internationalization support, and access to growth capital may become increasingly necessary and these should be given out to self-employed people to keep them thriving.

The findings align with Minniti et al.'s (2006) research that socio-economic factors, such as education and access to information, significantly influence the decision to become self-employed. Other consistency was found with Reid et al., (2018) research which suggests that self-employment involves greater levels of personal responsibility and autonomy, but also higher levels of stress, uncertainty and risk.

Based on the results of the interviews, one should be confident in their abilities, but also be willing to learn from their mistakes. Self-employment requires a certain level of risk-taking, and you must be willing to take chances to continuously grow, learn and so develop your business. One should stay up-to-date with the latest trends and technologies in their field, attend workshops and conferences, and seek out opportunities for professional development. This will help to competitive and relevant in your industry. Institutions should encourage individuals to adopt a growth mindset, emphasizing that failure is a natural part of the learning process and can be a valuable source of feedback. This can help individuals overcome fear of failure and become more resilient to their upcoming journey.

It must be noted that being self-employed is not for everyone. Being self-employed can be very isolating and hard for the psyche, so it's essential to have a support system in place. This can be in the form of a mentor, network of peers, or even friends and family who can offer encouragement and advice. This aligns with Bandura et al.'s (2018) findings that perceived support and resources from family and friends are important factors that influence self-employment decisions. Additionally, the finding that having entrepreneurial intentions and a plan for financial sustainability are important factors in self-employment decisions. Interviews also showed that many were just feeling stuck in their traditional job and wanted to do something more for themselves. This motivation to pursue greater personal and financial growth is consistent with Bandura et al. (2018) who found that self-employment is driven by utility maximization, which involves seeking greater personal autonomy, financial rewards, and job satisfaction. The challenges people face are different for everyone, depending on their background, for example being from different countries and growing up through different education systems.

Williams and Almand's (2014) research supports the notion of social media significantly impacting individuals' career aspirations and self-efficacy. Social media exposes individuals to success stories and role models, motivating them to pursue self-employment. In contrast to Kane et al. (2014), interviews show that social media has not played a significant role when choosing self-employment, other factors are more influential. The interviews suggest that social media and online influencers play a role in shaping individuals' perceptions of self-employment as a desirable career option, but it is important to temper these perceptions with a realistic understanding of the challenges and responsibilities that come with being self-employed. This skepticism contrasts with Kane et al.'s (2014) findings of individuals contemplating self-employment often hold unrealistic

expectations about their work autonomy and struggle with navigating vast online career information, leading to confusion and indecisiveness.

Based on the following, one should keep in mind that you are your own brand and this can be very demanding. The privacy concerns and the need to balance personal and professional identities are key challenges for self-employed individuals using social media. Learn to market yourself effectively, whether it's through social media, networking, or other channels. Be consistent and authentic in your messaging to attract clients and build a strong reputation.

### **CONCLUSION**

The aim of this thesis was to find out digitally working young adults' motivation to be selfemployed through motivational theories, socio-economical viewpoint and background, social media and the internet and the perception of risks and challenges that young adults associate selfemployment. Additionally, the research wanted to shed light and give realistic overview for anyone thinking of becoming self-employed, but being unsure about it.

The data of the research was collected from six different people interviewed, who are all selfemployed and working fully digitally. Interview questions were formed to reach the aim of this research and to answer stated research questions.

Overall, it was clear that the desire to be self-employed was not just a passing whim or fleeting ambition, but a fundamental aspect of their identity and sense of self. They had a hunger for personal and professional growth, and a belief that they could achieve more through self-employment than they could in a traditional employment setting. Each person expressed a deep-seated drive to grow and be more, both personally and professionally. It became clear that the individuals who were drawn to self-employment possessed a particular mindset that was well-suited for the challenges and opportunities of entrepreneurship. This mindset was characterized by a willingness to take risks, a strong sense of determination and perseverance, and a willingness to learn from mistakes.

While desire for self-employment and the challenges that come with it are not new concepts, the insights gained from the interviews with self-employed individuals provide a deeper understanding of their experiences in the current business landscape and are hopefully helpful for current workplaces, people who are considering to become self-employed and for future research on the topic.

Based on the research, self-employment should be brought more out and education needs to be done in order for people to understand new possibilities better and therefore really understand the importance and realities of it. Countries should have more courage to invest more on their individuals and especially focus on their education and funding in order to create innovative and encouraging athmosphere. It might be that institutions such as universities, want to fosfer their citizens to become traditional workers because those are also needed for the society to remain in operation, but the world is changing and so should the old institutions try to keep up. In some countries, the gap between this is quite large based on the comparison of the interviewees answers. In some of the countries, self-employment is still not valued enough compared to its' crucial importance in the business world. Companies, and moreover the economy, need self-employed people. Self-employment is needed and hopefully in the future it will gain more value it deserves in the society.

I would like to add a very encouraging quote by the interviewee #4 to end the thesis, if anyone who is dreaming of becoming self-employed and needs the little push forward:

"I guess the first thing is that it's possible and another thing is like when you come out of education. Not to like identify so hard with what you like. You're not your degree or you don't have to be if you don't want to be. You're not like a grade on the piece of paper, your life isn't as simple as a B+ or D or an A or whatever. This is just one way that you've been graded at a particular moment in time. So if you want to do things, you can probably do it. If you commit to it, especially with business, 100% possible, I think. The Internet has opened it up for everybody, so many different ways to succeed so much different information to succeed. It's just having the mindset that it's possible and then building the habits to to make it possible."

Despite the valuable insights gained from the research, there were certain limitations that need to be acknowledged. Firstly, the sample size of the study was limited to only six self-employed individuals, which may not be representative of the larger population of young adults who aspire to be self-employed. Therefore, the generalizability of the findings to a broader population may be limited. Secondly, the interviews were conducted with individuals who were working fully digitally, which is not representative of all self-employed individuals, but an intertesting and new aspect to look self-employed people through. Thirdly, the study was limited to a qualitative approach and did not include any quantitative data, which could have provided a better analysis of the motivations of self-employment. Lastly, the study was conducted in a specific socio-economic

and cultural context, which may not be applicable to other regions or countries. Further research could take into consideration also people from for example Asian, African, and South-American region. Therefore, caution should be taken when interpreting and applying the findings of this study. It would also be interesting to compare the factor of people who work fully digitally but work for someone else and see what changes regarding to those who work for themselves.

### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abbott, J. (2013). Introduction: Assessing the social and political impact of the internet and new social media in Asia. Journal of Contemporary Asia, 43(4), 579-590. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472336.2013.785698
- Akosah-Twumasi, P., Emeto, T. I., Lindsay, D., Tsey, K., & Malau-Aduli, B. S. (2018). A systematic review of factors that influence youths career choices-the role of culture. Frontiers. Retrieved March 3, 2023, from https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feduc.2018.00058/full
- Al-Amin M, Nafi S, Amin A. (2019) Use of socialmedia for job search and application: aperspective from the job seekers in Bangladesh. Retrieved from:

  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334736310">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334736310</a> Use of social media for job sear ch and application a perspective from the job seekers in Bangladesh</a>
- Albion, M. J., & Fogarty, G. J. (2002). Factors influencing career decision making in adolescents and adults. Journal of Career Assessment, 10(1), 91-126. Retrieved April 3, 2023, from <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1069072702010001006">https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1069072702010001006</a>
- Andersson, P. (2008). Happiness and health: Well-being among the self-employed. The Journal of Socio-Economics, 37(1), 213-236. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2007.03.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2007.03.003</a>
- Arauzo-Carod, J. M., Calá, C. D., & Manjón-Antolín, M. (2015). The determinants of entrepreneurship in developing countries, Nülan. Deposited Documents, Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata, Facultad de Ciencias Económicas y Sociales, Centro de Documentación, Retrieved April 4, from <a href="http://nulan.mdp.edu.ar/id/eprint/2125/1/cala.2015.pdf">http://nulan.mdp.edu.ar/id/eprint/2125/1/cala.2015.pdf</a>
- Audretsch, D. B., & Keilbach, M. (2004). Entrepreneurship and regional growth: An evolutionary interpretation. Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 14(5), 605-616. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00191-004-0228-6
- Ayyagari, M., Beck, T., & Demirguc-Kunt, A. (2007). Small and medium enterprises across the globe. Small Business Economics, 38(4), https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-006-9002-5
- Bandura, A., Freeman, W. H., & Lightsey, R. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co.
- Bandura, A., Stajkovic, A. D., Locke, E. A., Lee, D., & Sergent, K. (2018). Test of three conceptual models of influence of the big five personality traits and self-efficacy on

- academic performance: A meta-analytic path-analysis. Personality and individual differences, 120, 238-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.08.014
- Baron, R. A. (2008). The role of affect in the entrepreneurial process. Academy of Management Review, 33(2), 328-340. doi: 10.5465/amr.2008.31193166
- Baron, R. A., Franklin, R. J., & Hmieleski, K. M. (2016). Why entrepreneurs often experience low, not high, levels of stress: The joint effects of selection and psychological capital. Journal of management, 42(3), 742-768. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313495411
- Barringer B. R. & Ireland R. D. (2012). Entrepreneurship successfully launching new ventures (Fourth edition global). Pearson. Retrieved April 24, 2023, from http://www.mim.ac.mw/books/Barringers%27s%20Entrepreneurship%20Successfully%20Launching%20New%20Ventures.pdf
- Baum, J. R., & Bird, B. J. (2010). The successful intelligence of high-growth entrepreneurs: Links to new venture growth. Organization Science, 21(2), 397-412. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1090.0445
- Baum, J. R., & Locke, E. A. (2004). The Relationship of Entrepreneurial Traits, Skill, and Motivation to Subsequent Venture Growth. Journal of Applied Psychology, 89(4), 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.4.587
- Baumeister, R. F., & Vohs, K. D. (Eds.). (2016). Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Borsma, N., Hill, S., Ionescu-Somers, A., Kelley, D., Guerrero, M., & Schott, T. (2021). 2020/2021 Global Report (Rep.). London: Global Entrepreneurship Research Association, London Business School. Retrieved March 8, 2023, from <a href="https://www.gemconsortium.org/file/open?fileId=50691">https://www.gemconsortium.org/file/open?fileId=50691</a>
- Buffer. (2020). The state of remote work. Retrieved March 13, 2023, from <a href="https://lp.buffer.com/state-of-remote-work-2020">https://lp.buffer.com/state-of-remote-work-2020</a>
- Carol S. Moore & Richard E. Mueller (2002) The transition from paid to self-employment in Canada: the importance of push factors, Applied Economics, 34:6, 791-801, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00036840110058473">https://doi.org/10.1080/00036840110058473</a>
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2018). Perspectives on personality (8th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Chen, M., & Xiao, X. (2022). The effect of social media on the development of students' affective variables. Conceptual analysis article, Frontiers in Psychology, 13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1010766">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1010766</a>
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Davidsson, P. & Honig, B. (2003). The role of social and human capital among nascent entrepreneurs. Journal of Business Venturing, 18(3), 301-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-9026(02)00097-6

- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. Berlin: Springer Science & Business Media. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Self-determination theory: A macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne, 49(3), 182–185. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012801
- Doran, M. (2009). Tax penalties and tax compliance. *Harv. J. on Legis.*, 46, 111. Retrieved April 2, 2023 from <a href="https://scholarship.law.georgetown.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1918&context=facpub">https://scholarship.law.georgetown.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1918&context=facpub</a>
- EUR-Lex. (2019). Official Journal of the European Union On access to social protection for workers and the self-employed. Retrieved April 3, 2023, from <a href="https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv%3AOJ.C\_.2019.387.01.0001.01.ENG&amp;toc=OJ%3AC%3A2019%3A387%3ATOC">https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv%3AOJ.C\_.2019.387.01.0001.01.ENG&amp;toc=OJ%3AC%3A2019%3A387%3ATOC</a>
- Eurostat's European Union Labour Force Survey. (2019). Retrieved April 3, 2023, from <a href="https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/industrial-relations-dictionary/self-employed-person">https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/industrial-relations-dictionary/self-employed-person</a>
- Fabio, Annamaria & Palazzeschi, Letizia & Levin, Nimrod & Gati, Itamar. (2014). The Role of Personality in the Career Decision-Making Difficulties of Italian Young Adults. Journal of Career Assessment. 23. 281-293. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072714535031">https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072714535031</a>
- Foss, N. J., & Klein, P. G. (2012). Organizing entrepreneurial judgment: A new approach to the firm. Cambridge University Press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139021173">https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139021173</a>
- Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication (Vol. 18). NYU press. Retrieved March 2, 2023 from <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qgh5x">https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qgh5x</a>
- GEM (2019). Global research shows that flexible working is now a deal breaker in the war for talent. Retrieved March 8, 2023 from <a href="https://work.iwgplc.com/MediaCentre/PressRelease/flexible-working-is-now-a-deal-breaker-in-the-war-for-talent">https://work.iwgplc.com/MediaCentre/PressRelease/flexible-working-is-now-a-deal-breaker-in-the-war-for-talent</a>
- Gielnik, M.M., Frese, M., Kahara-Kawuki, A., Wassenaar, A., Mueller, V.K., & Parker, S.K. (2015). Action and action-regulation in entrepreneurship: Evaluating a student training for promoting entrepreneurship. Academy of Management Learning and Education, 14(1), 155-173. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2012.0107">https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2012.0107</a>
- Grilo, I., & Thurik, R. (2008). Determinants of entrepreneurial engagement levels in Europe and the US. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 17(6), 1113-1145. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtn044">https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtn044</a>
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K.M., & Namey, E.E. (2012). Applied thematic analysis. Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483384436

- Hay, M., Cox, L. W., Reynolds, P. D., Autio, E., & Bygrave, W. D. (2002). Global entrepreneurship monitor (gem)-2002 executive report. University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign's Academy for Entrepreneurial Leadership Historical Research Reference in Entrepreneurship. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1977.0409
- Hirschi, A., & Herrmann, A. (2012). Vocational identity achievement as a mediator of presence of calling and life satisfaction. Journal of Career Assessment, 20(3), 309–321. doi: 10.1177/1069072711436158
- International Labour Organization (ILO), (2020). Labour force by status in employment. Retrieved March 3, 2023, from <a href="https://ilostat.ilo.org/topics/labour-force/">https://ilostat.ilo.org/topics/labour-force/</a>
- International Workplace Group (IWG), Global Workspace Survey Flexible Working IWG plc. (2018) Retrieved from: <a href="https://work.iwgplc.com/global-workspace-survey-2019">https://work.iwgplc.com/global-workspace-survey-2019</a>
- Iwamoto, D., & Chun, H. (2020). The emotional impact of social media in higher education. International Journal of Higher Education, 9(2), 239-247. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v9n2p239
- Kalleberg, A. L., & Dunn, M. (2016). Good jobs, bad jobs in the gig economy. *LERA for Libraries*, 20. Retrieved on March 23, 2023, from https://michael-dunn.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/ALK-MD.-JQ-in-Gig-Economy.pdf
- Kane, G. C., Palmer, D., Phillips, A. N., Kiron, D., & Buckley, N. (2014). Strategy, not technology, drives digital transformation. MIT Sloan Management Review. Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/fr/Documents/strategy/dup\_strategynot-technology-drives-digital-transformation.pdf
- Kautonen, T., Kibler, E., & Minniti, M. (2017). Late-career entrepreneurship, income and quality of life. Journal of Business Venturing, 32(3), 318-333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2017.02.005
- Khan, T. H., MacEachen, E., Hopwood, P., & Goyal, J. (2021). Self-employment, work and health: A critical narrative review. Work (Reading, Mass.), 70(3), 945–957. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-213614
- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 45(1), 79–122. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027">https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027</a>
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. American Psychologist, 57(9), 705–717. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Goal-setting theory of motivation. International Journal of Management, Business, and Administration, 15(1), 1-6. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from <a href="http://www.nationalforum.com/Electronic%20Journal%20Volumes/Lunenburg,%20Fre">http://www.nationalforum.com/Electronic%20Journal%20Volumes/Lunenburg,%20Fre</a>

- d%20C.%20Goal-Setting%20Theoryof%20Motivation%20IJMBA%20V15%20N1%202011.pdf
- Mason, C., & Brown, R. (2014). Entrepreneurial ecosystems and growth oriented entrepreneurship. *Final report to OECD, Paris, 30*(1), 77-102. Retrieved March 17, 2023, from https://www.oecd.org/cfe/leed/entrepreneurial-ecosystems.pdf
- McMullen, J.S. & Shepherd, D.A. (2006). Entrepreneurial action and the role of uncertainty in the theory of the entrepreneur. Academy of Management Review, 31(1), 132-152. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.2006.19379628
- Minniti, M., Bygrave, W. D., & Autio, E. (2006). Global entrepreneurship monitor. 2005 Executive Report, Retrieved March 17, 2023 from: http://web.esbri.se/pdf/gemglobalreport\_2005.pdf
- Mueller, S. L., & Conway Dato-on, M. (2013). A cross cultural study of gender-role orientation and entrepreneurial self-efficacy. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 9, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-011-0187-y
- Obschonka, M., Hakkarainen, K., Lonka, K. et al. Entrepreneurship as a twenty-first century skill: entrepreneurial alertness and intention in the transition to adulthood. Small Bus Econ 48, 487–501 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9798-6
- Parker, K., & Ponomariov, B. (2019). Self-employed Americans are happier and more engaged in their work, but they are also more vulnerable. Pew Research Center. Retrieved March 23, 2023, from <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/10/17/self-employed-americans-are-happier-and-more-engaged-in-their-work-but-they-are-also-more-vulnerable/">https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/10/17/self-employed-americans-are-happier-and-more-engaged-in-their-work-but-they-are-also-more-vulnerable/</a>
- Pena, L., Curado, C., & Oliveira, M. (2022). The contribution of LinkedIn use to career outcome expectations. *Journal of Business Research*, *144*, 788-796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.09.047
- Politis, D. (2005). The process of entrepreneurial learning: A conceptual framework. Entrepreneurship theory and practice, 29(4), 399-424. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6520.2005.00091.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6520.2005.00091.x</a>
- Reeve, J. (2018). Understanding motivation and emotion. John Wiley & Sons. Retrieved April 20, 2023, from <a href="https://books.google.fi/books?hl=fi&lr=&id=CvhcDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA2&dq=Reeve,+J.+(2018).+Understanding+motivation+and+emotion.+John+Wiley+%26+Sons.+doi%3F&ots=PEDTN3sFPX&sig=wk6fh3jDmAV3vuXp6G47exrUPAs&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false</a>
- Reid, S. W., Patel, P. C., & Wolfe, M. T. (2018). The struggle is real: self-employment and short-term psychological distress. Journal of Business Venturing Insights, 9, 128-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbvi.2018.04.002

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.55.1.68
- Say, J. (1803). A Treatise on Political Economy. Lippincott, Grambo, and Company. Book. Retrieved May 23, 2023 from <a href="https://oll-resources.s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/oll3/store/titles/274/0518">https://oll-resources.s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/oll3/store/titles/274/0518</a> Bk.pdf
- Schlaegel, C., & Koenig, M. (2014). Determinants of entrepreneurial intent: A meta–analytic test and integration of competing models. Entrepreneurship theory and practice, 38(2), 291-332. https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12087
- Schreurs, B., Derous, E., Van Hooft, E. A., Proost, K., & De Witte, K. (2009). Predicting applicants' job pursuit behavior from their selection expectations: The mediating role of the theory of planned behavior. Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 30(6), 761-783. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.570">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.570</a>
- Shane, S. (2003). A general theory of entrepreneurship: The individual-opportunity nexus. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242604043697
- Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. Academy of Management Review, 25(1), 217-226. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2000.2791611
- Skinner, B. F. (1953). Science and human behavior. Macmillan. Retrieved April 6, 2023, from <a href="https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUK\_EwjK6LWBgOT-AhUr\_SoKHZXRDIsQFnoECCcQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.bfskinner.org%2\_Fnewtestsite%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2014%2F02%2FScienceHumanBehavior.pdf&usg=AOvVaw1r\_U1LY8Wwf2ZoYFkXA\_NG1</a>
- Sorenson, O. (2018). Social networks and the geography of entrepreneurship. Small Business Economics, 51, 527-537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-018-0076-7
- Stuart, T. E., & Sorenson, O. (2005). Social networks and entrepreneurship. *Handbook of entrepreneurship research: Interdisciplinary perspectives*, 233-252. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-23622-8 11
- The Deloitte Global Millennial Survey 2020 Resilient generations hold the key to creating a "better normal" (2020). (Rep.). Deloitte. Retrieved March 8, 2023, from <a href="https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/deloitte-2020-millennial-survey.pdf">https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/deloitte-2020-millennial-survey.pdf</a>
- Vroom, V.H. (1964). Work and motivation. New York: Wiley. Retrieved March 9, 2023, from <a href="http://books.google.com/books?id=BNqRAAAIAAJ">http://books.google.com/books?id=BNqRAAAIAAJ</a>

- Wang, B., Liu, Y., Qian, J., & Parker, S. K. (2021). Achieving effective remote working during the COVID-19 pandemic: A work design perspective. *Applied psychology*, 70(1), 16-59. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12290
- Wang, L. Y., & Huang, J. H. (2019). Effect of entrepreneurial self-efficacy on the entrepreneurial intentions of students at a university in Hainan province in China: Taking social support as a moderator. International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research, 18(9), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.26803/ijlter.18.9.10
- Williams, T., & Almand, A. D. (2014). The role of social media in hiring decisions. *Journal of Information Systems Technology & Planning*, 7(18). Retrieved April 8, 2023 from <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341449645\_The\_Use\_of\_Social\_Media\_in\_the">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341449645\_The\_Use\_of\_Social\_Media\_in\_the</a> e Recruitment Process
- Yimamu, N. (2018). Entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial motivation. Thesis, Centria University of Applied Sciences, Business Managaement, Retrieved May 2, 2023, from <a href="https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/144307/Yimamu\_Nadire.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/144307/Yimamu\_Nadire.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</a>

## **APPENDICES**

## Appendix 1. Interview questions

- 1. Which country are you from? What is your nationality?
- 2. What is your educational background? (after compulsory education)
- 3. Please describe your career path. What is your previous work-experience, before being self-employed at present?
- 4. What is it that you do now (job tasks) and what sector/ area of activity are you active?
- 5. How long have you been self-employed? To what extent, or at all, do you have similar previous work experiences?
- 6. How many hours per week do you work? (How flexible is your organisation of work?)
- 7. To what extent are you free to move around (geographically)?
- 8. What challenges (if at all) have you faced when starting and then maintaining a self-employment business?
- 9. Why have you chosen self-employment rather than being employed in traditional sense?
- 10. What are the main benefits of being self-employed compared to traditional employment?
- 11. What are the main negatives of being self-employed compared to traditional employment?
- 12. There are times and different phases in life of course where your motivation goes higher and lower from time to time. In your experience, what factors have helped you maintain your motivation when pursuing self-employment?
- 13. What factors have posed challenges to your motivation when pursuing self-employment?
- 14. To what extent is pursuing self-employment related to your self-esteem, personal growth and fulfilment?
- 15. To what extent is pursuing self-employment related to achieving your professional development and career outcomes?
- 16. How important is a desire for independence and sense of autonomy in self-employment?
- 17. Can you describe a time when you felt a sense of connectedness to others who are selfemployed, and how this impacted your motivation and engagement with your work?
- 18. To what extent have you experienced outside expectations and pressures when pursuing self-employment, like social pressures, parental and friends' influence, expectations of other people? How does this affect your overall satisfaction and engagement with your work?

- 19. To what extent are work-related aspects important for you when pursuing self-employment, like market opportunities, financial benefits, professional prestige, job accessibility, job security? How does this affect your overall satisfaction and engagement with your work?
- 20. What skills and knowledge do you believe are essential to succeed as a self-employed individual?
- 21. To what extent do you feel you have the necessary knowledge and skills to pursue selfemployment?
- 22. Can you describe any mentors or resources that have helped guide you in your selfemployment journey?
- 23. How do you balance the demands of self-employment in your personal life, such as family and hobbies?
- 24. How do you define success in self-employment, and how do you measure progress toward that success?
- 25. Could you give an example of a challenge you faced while pursuing self-employment and how you overcame it?
- 26. How has social media or the internet influenced your perception of self-employment as a viable career option?
- 27. Would you say that social media or the internet has made it easier or more difficult to start and maintain a self-employment business, and why?
- 28. Have you ever faced any negative consequences or drawbacks because of using social media or the internet in your self-employment journey, and how did you deal with them?
- 29. Have you ever received business advice or support through social media or online communities, and how did it help you in your self-employment journey?
- 30. Can you share any tips or advice for young adults who are considering self-employment and how they can effectively use social media and the internet to achieve their goals?
- 31. How has the prevailing socio-economic climate influenced your motivation to become self-employed?
- 32. How do socio-economic factors, such as income inequality, access to education and job opportunities, affect your decision to pursue self-employment?
- 33. What kinds of policies could help more adults access self-employment(/entrepreneurhip) opportunities?
- 34. How do you see your self-employment contributing to your community's socio-economic-being?

- 35. What is your personal experience or observation of self-employment in your inner circle, bigger circle, and in general from their country
- 36. Do you have anything else that you would like to add to any of the topics we have covered?

# **Appendix 2. Interviews**

The transcriptions of the research interviews have been uploaded to an external server for reading. The transcribed interviews can be found behind the following link:

 $\underline{https://livettu.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/BachelorThesis56/Er0WAouB2ttGt1cX-iWFMP0Bbx6Wejv-QKxV8eTDxZwfZg?e=3id5JN}$ 

# **Appendix 3. Non-exclusive licence**

#### A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis<sup>1</sup>

I, Jasmin Partanen

1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis

Young adults' motivation to be self-employed, supervised by Merle Küttim,

- 1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;
- 1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.
- 2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive licence.
- 3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

11.05.2023

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period